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Competent Persons Statement
The information in this Report that relates to the Meteor Downs South coal resources (part of Orion Downs) is based on information compiled by
Mr Mal Blaik of JB Mining Services. The reporting is in compliance with the 2012 JORC Code. Mr Blaik is a qualified Geologist, a member of the
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (No 112631) and has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit
under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the Australasian Code for Reporting
of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves published by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC Code). Mr Blaik has given his consent for the
inclusion of this information in the Prospectus and has reviewed all statements pertaining to this information in the form and context in which it
appears.
The information in this Report that relates to the Broughton coal resources is based on information compiled by Mr Phillip A J Sides of JB Mining
Services. The reporting is in compliance with the 2012 JORC Code. Mr Sides is a qualified Geologist, a member of the Australian Institute of
Geoscientists and has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which
he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves
published by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC Code). Mr Sides has given his consent for the inclusion of this information in the Report and
has reviewed all statements pertaining to this information in the form and context in which it appears.
The information in this Report that relates to the Inderi coal resources (part of Orion Downs), and the Rockwood coal resources, are based on
information compiled by Mr Phillip A J Sides of JB Mining Services. The reporting is in compliance with the 2004 JORC Code. Mr Sides is a qualified
Geologist, a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of
deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the Australasian Code for
Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves published by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC Code). Mr Sides has given his consent for
the inclusion of this information in the Review and has reviewed all statements pertaining to this information in the form and context in which it
appears.
The technical and geological related information in this Report is based on information compiled and reviewed by Mr Darren Walker who is an
employee of U&D Mining. Mr Walker is a qualified Geologist, a member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists and the Australasian Institute of
Mining and Metallurgy and has sufficient experience relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the
activity which he is undertaking, to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and
Ore Reserves published by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee (JORC Code). Mr Walker has given his consent for the inclusion of this information in
the Report and has reviewed all statements pertaining to this information in the form and context in which it appears.

The information in this Report that relates to Proven and Probable Reserves at Meteor Downs South Project is based on a mine plan, a mine
schedule and costs prepared by The Minserve Group Pty Ltd. Mr Jeff Jamieson was responsible for the report’s preparation and the reserve
statement therein. He is both a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, and a Chartered Professional (Mining) and is a
Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore
Reserves. Mr Jamieson consents to the inclusion in the Report of the matters based on his information in the form and context in which it appears.
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Current U&D Tenement Map

EPC
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Name
Turrawulla
Springton
Devlin Creek
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Cedars
Milray
Cooper Creek
Sullivan Creek
Barfield
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EPP
Sandilands
Bee Creek
Stockyard Creek
Mt Inglis
Carfax West
Thirty Mile Creek
12 Mile Creek
Rockwood 2
Bundarra
Kola Bar
Talwood
Broughton
Pretoria Hill
Mt Coolon
Suttor
Harrybrandt
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Chairman's letter to shareholders
Dear shareholders
The 2015‐2016 financial year has been another difficult year for the coal industry. Both the coal and equity markets have
suffered from prices hit by cyclical market downturns. However the Board and management team of U&D Coal Limited
have fully committed themselves to respond to the economic downturn and shape the Company to be stronger and
more competitive for the years ahead. The Board would like to thank the shareholders of U&D Coal Limited for their
continuing patience and on‐going support for the Company.
OVERVIEW
In the 2015‐2016 financial year, U&D Coal Ltd has put almost its entire focus on the development of its major flagship
project Meteor Downs South (MDS) project. Whilst the Company's other flagship project, the Broughton project
(Broughton), and other exploration assets have had less attention, the company has continued to try to increase the
value of these assets through further desktop studies and evaluations and through joint venture arrangements with
third parties, like Sojitz Coal Mining Pty Ltd (Sojitz) and Resolve Coal Pty Ltd (Resolve).
Whilst the management team have continued to use their best endeavors to keep the Company operating and to build
shareholder value, the economic downturn has still impacted upon the Company. Market conditions this year have led
to the need to further assess if there is any decline in the carrying value of some of the Company’s assets. The Board
decided to further impair the Broughton asset by $7.0 million with no cash flow impact. The Company suffered a total
loss before income tax of $18.6 million, approximately $1.9 cents per share.
Cash outflow remains another substanial issue. The Company had $1.1 million, cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of this financial year. It borrowed a further $78.8 million from its majority shareholder Australia Kunqian
International Energy Co., Pty Ltd (KQ), so that it could repay the $70.0 million China Construction Bank (CCB) Loan due
for repayment on 30 May 2016, and for other working capital. The Company had $0.9 million undrawn at the end of the
financial year. The Company is under considerable pressure with regards to its debt liability and interest payment
obligations. The Company holds $104.2 million in total liabilities, all but $0.8 million of which is owed to KQ. This huge
amount of debt, combined with negative net assets of $13.7 million significantly affects the Company’s financing ability
and jeopardizes the Company’s ability to continue its business operations as a going concern.
BOARD RESTRUCTURE
Mr Dongsheng Wu, the founding chairman of U&D Coal Ltd resigned from the Board on 5 February 2016, and the Board
appointed Qian Yu, as the replacement chairman for Mr Wu. On behalf of the Board I wish to thank Mr Wu for his
governance and stewardship through what was a difficult time for the Company.
EXPLORATION
During this financial year, the Company completed no physical drilling, but continued evaluating its exploration assets
through desktop reviews and field work. The Company continues its strong focus on safety, improving efficiency and
generating low cost exploration programs, to promote project development and increase value to shareholders.
FLAGSHIP PROJECT
The Company has been actively working with Sojitz Coal Mining Pty Ltd on a joint venture agreement and farmin
agreement for the MDS project. These agreements were executed in the final quarter of 2015. The MDS project is very
promising and is likely to commence construction in the second half of 2017, with coal mining three months later. The
MDS project will be the Company’s first mining project and will enable the Company’s transfer from Developer to
Producer status.
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Chairman's letter to shareholders (continued)

The Company has parked the development of its second near term mining project, as expenditure is reduced in line with
the Company's strategy to concentrate investment on the MDS project. Considering its large resource and anticipation of
future demand for coking coal, the Broughton project remains a key asset for the Company and further development is
likely to commence when cash flows from the MDS project permit.
OUTLOOK
Although facing countless obstacles, the management team and Board, still have faith in the future for the Company. We
are still near the deepest point of the market decline, but the Company is prepared and responding to the challenges of
the industry downturn. The Company has a professional management team and valuable assets. We expect continued
support from all shareholders to continue financing the development of the Company’s most advanced projects, so that
the Company can benefit its shareholders in the future.

Qian Yu
Chairperson
Brisbane
2 August 2017
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Directors' report
Your directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as " the Group") consisting of U&D
Coal Limited (“the Company”) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2016.
The attached annual report for the year ended 30 June 2016 contains an independent auditor’s report which includes an
emphasis of matter paragraph in regard to the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. For further information, refer to Note 1(b) to the financial statements,
together with the auditors report.

Directors
The following persons were directors of U&D Coal Limited during the reporting period and up to the date of this report:
Mr Qian Yu (executive director ‐ appointed 31 July 2014, apppointed chairman on 6 February 2016)
Mr Gavin Houghton (non‐executive director ‐ appointed 11 November 2013)
Mr Wenliang Wang (non‐executive director ‐ appointed 11 November 2013)
Mr Shining Hou (non‐executive director ‐ appointed 1 August 2014)
Mr Shulong Ma (non‐executive director ‐ appointed 1 August 2014)
Mr Dongsheng Wu was the non‐executive chairman from 11 November 2013 until his resignation on 6 February 2016.

Principal activities
The Group's principal activities during the period focused on the exploration of hard‐coking, thermal and PCI coal
projects in the Bowen Basin of Queensland.

Dividends ‐ U&D Coal Limited
No dividends were paid during the period and no recommendation is made as to the payment of dividends.

Review of operations
The Group has worked consistently throughout the year towards its strategy around advancing its near term Meteor
Downs South (MDS) mine project, whilst also continuing limited exploration of tenement assets located in highly
prospective areas.
MDS Project
The Group has continued to work on the MDS project, the Group's most advanced near term development project with
a JORC resource of 16.82Mt including 13.32Mt at a JORC measured category. The Group obtained the mining lease for
this project in the final quarter of 2015.
In May 2014 the Group signed an arrangements agreement with Sojitz Coal Mining Pty Ltd (Sojitz) reflecting the mutual
interest in co‐developing the MDS project by synergising with Minerva and utilising Sojitz's expertise as a coal operator.
The Company is continuing to work with Sojitz on carrying out their respective obligations under the arrangements
agreement. The Company executed a Call Option Deed (COD) with Sojitz in the fourth quarter of 2015. The Board
remains optimistic that the MDS project will commence construction in the second half of 2017, with the
commencement of coal mining some three months later. The MDS project is the absolute priority investment for the
Company.
Broughton Project
The Broughton Project remains a key asset for the Company, with a JORC resource of 121.0Mt. The Company continued
progress on its Environmental Impact Study, to a point where it was appropriate to halt progress. The Company expects
to recommence development of Broughton once funds from MDS cash flows become available.
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Directors' report (continued)

Review of operations (continued)
Tenement exploration
Whilst there has been an emphasis on the MDS project, the Company continued to undertake limited evaluation,
desktop studies and geological mapping across its large number of tenements throughout the year to identify resource
potential as part of its strategy of looking to build a sustainable business for the future.
Health and safety
The Group undertook approximately 700 hours (2015: 9,700) on drilling and exploration activities by employees and
contractors during the 12 month period and has reported no lost time injuries over the past 3 years of operation.
During the year the Group undertook and passed an independent operational audit on its health and safety systems. The
Group implemented all recommendations arising from the audit.
Safety is a core value of the Company and the Company will strive to maintain that value so that it is embedded in the
culture of our employees and contractors. The Company is committed to providing and maintaining a safe work
environment in which its employees and contractors are not exposed to hazards that will jeopardise their health and
safety.
Resources and reserves
At the date of this report the Company has the following reserves and resources in accordance with the 2012 JORC code.

Tenement

JORC
Measured
Resource
(Mt)

JORC
Indicated
Resource
(Mt)

JORC
Inferred
Resource
(Mt)

Total
JORC
Resource
(Mt)

JORC
Marketable
Reserves
(Mt)

Total
JORC
Reserves
(Mt)

MDS

13.3

3.5

‐

16.8

13.0

Orion Downs

18.5

8.1

8.0

34.6

‐

‐

Rockwood

‐

47.1

400.0

447.1

‐

‐

Broughton

17.8
49.6

11.1
69.8

92.0
500.0

120.9
619.4

‐
13.0

‐
13.0

Please refer to the Competent Persons Statement on Page 2.
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Directors' report (continued)

Review of operations (continued)
Financial performance and financial position
The Company reports an operating loss for the year of $18.6 million (2015 : $33.4 million). Comparisons between the
two years is difficult as a key impact on both years are the write offs and impairments.

Revenue from continuing operations
Corporate consultants and secretarial expenses
Corporate office
Employee benefit expenses
Finance costs
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Other expenses
Legal costs on ASX appeal process and share buyback
Legal costs relating to section 737 proceedings
Impairment on loan to related party and interest receivable
Impairment on exploration and evaluation expenditure
Write off intangible assets
Write off non‐current receivables
Loss before income tax

2016
$ thousand

2015
$ thousand

78

358

(253)
(490)
(1,025)
(3,886)
(5,574)
(364)
‐
‐
(71)
(7,000)
‐
‐
(18,585)

(899)
(664)
(1,473)
(3,129)
(1,659)
(615)
(231)
(741)
(1,073)
(22,333)
(400)
(537)
(33,396)

The Loss per share is shown below.
Shares on issue were reduced in the prior year by the Company acquiring and cancelling 100,000,000 shares issued to
Australia Kunqian International Energy Co., Pty Ltd (KQ) under the Initial Public Offering and 8,316,092 shares as a
selective buyback of shares from other IPO investors.
Loss per share for profit attributable to the ordinary
Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

Cents
(1.9)
(1.9)

Cents
(3.3)
(3.3)

In the previous financial year the Company's impairment assessment resulted in a $22.3 million impairment of the
exploration and evaluation assets. The impairment review valued JORC assets using transaction multiples or based on
cash flow modelling. All but 2 of the Non‐JORC tenements were fully impaired.
In the current year the Company's impairment assessment resulted in a further impairment of $7.0 million against the
Broughton asset. The Company assessed there was no impairment on the other exploration and evaluation assets.
Following on from the previous financial year's impairment assessment, the Company expensed in the current year all
exploration and evaluation expenditure with 2 tenement exceptions. As a result exploration and evaluation expenses
were $5.6 million, compared to $1.7 million in the previous financial year.
The Group's $70 million loan facility with the China Construction Bank Corporation ( CCB) was repaid in May 2016, and
replaced with a new loan from the majority shareholder KQ. The loan from KQ was due for repayment on 1 July 2017.
The Company advises that the loan repayment date was due one day after the end of the next financial year and on that
basis the loan has been classed as non‐current in the financial statements. The Company is currently negotiating an
extension of the loan repayment date to ensure the company's operating activities continue to be funded. Subsequent
to the year end the loan was extended by an amendment deed to 1 August 2018.
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Directors' report (continued)

Review of operations (continued)
Financial performance and financial position
2016
$ thousand
802
89,728
90,530

2015
$ thousand
3,976
96,876
100,852

Current liabilities
Non‐current liabilities
Total liabilities

794
103,418
104,212

71,374
24,575
95,949

Net (liabilities) / assets

(13,682)

4,903

Current assets
Non‐current assets
Total assets

Please note the Company's net liability position of $13.7 million. It therefore follows that a sale of all the Company's
assets may not enable the Company to pay all its outstanding loans and debt.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the group during the financial year were as follows:
Changes to the Board
On 6 February 2016, chairman Mr Dongsheng Wu resigned from the board of the Company. The board appointed Mr
Qian Yu as the new executive chairman. Mr Wu was the founding chairman of the Company and the board would like to
thank Mr Wu for his governance and support that time.
Tenement Relinquishment
The Company relinquished 278 sub‐blocks in the financial year. The Company fully relinquished EPC 2854 Thirty Mile
Creek and EPC 2025 Overlander, with partial relinquishments on Stockyard Creek, Rockwood, Springton and the Orion
Downs project areas. The Company provided write downs of $84,771 relating to these tenements in the previous
financial year.
Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets
The Company recognised that there were indications of impairment on their exploration and evaluation assets, and
therefore undertook an impairment assessment of those assets.
(a) As a result of the Company recognising significant impairments in the previous financial year, the Company chose to
expense all exploration expenditure in the current year, other than on the Hyde Park Project and the Stockyard Creek
tenement.
(b) The Company perfomed an impairment assessment on the remaining assets held on the Group's Balance Sheet. The
Board decided to further impair the Broughton asset by $7.0 million to reflect the challenging market in respect of such
assets.
Debt Funding
On 30 May 2016, KQ provided the Company with a $73.8 million loan facility to enable the Company to repay the CCB
loan due for repayment on that same date and to cover working capital. The Company had drawn down $72.9 million of
the loan facility at the balance date. This loan was due to expire on 1 July 2017 and is therefore categorised as non
current in the financial reports despite being due for repayment the day after the next reporting period. The interest
rate on the loan is 10% and capitalised quarterly. The loan was subsequently extended in July 2017 by an amendment
deed to 1 August 2018.
The Company now has drawn down loans of $100.9 million from KQ with $2.5 million of interest which has been
capitalised. The Company had $0.9 million of undrawn funds at the year end.
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Directors' report (continued)

Significant changes in the state of affairs (continued)
On going funding
The Company has cash and cash equivalents at 30 June 2016 of $0.2 million and net liability of $13.7 million. The
Company remains an exploration Company and will not generate operating revenues until production commences on
the MDS project. The Company has a strong reliance on its current shareholders to provide on‐going support to finance
its operations. Whilst other funding sources may be available in the future, the Company advises that for the near future
it will be fully reliant upon its major shareholder KQ for continuing support. The Company is in active dialogue with the
majority shareholder KQ, about a long term funding solution. The majority shareholder has continued to fund the group
up to the date of this report and the directors see no reason why they will not continue to do so. The majority
shareholder has extended the repayment date of loans to 1 August 2018.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
Shareholder loans
Subsequent to the year end, the Company has completely drawn down the remaining $0.9 million from the $73.8 million
KQ loan facility. In addition KQ has provided a further $1.7 million to the date of this report to finance the Company's
operations. On 26 July 2017 KQ agreed to an amendment deed extending the $73.8 million and $20.0 million loans to 1
August 2018.
Tenement renewal and relinquishment
The Company was granted the renewal of EPC 2339 Stockyard Creek in August 2016, and fully relinquished the
remaining 15 sub‐blocks of EPC 1518 Sullivan Creek in September 2016.
Proceeding
On 27 June 2016, Flash Lighting Company (FLC) a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands commenced
proceedings in the Supreme Court of Victoria against the Group’s majority shareholder, Australian Kunqian International
Energy Co., Pty Ltd (KQ), claiming $29.2 million indebtedness in relation to a share sale and purchase agreement,
entered into during the year ended 30 June 2012. On 18 October 2016 the plaintiff commenced proceedings in the
Supreme Court of Victoria against U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd (UDM), a wholly owned subsidiary of U&D
Coal Ltd (UND), as a second defendant in a case against a former UDM and UND Director, Mr Yinan Zhang. The
proceedings allege that the director Mr Zhang knowingly assisted, or was involved in, a breach of fiduciary duty of UDM
in relation to the $29.2 million indebtedness.
The first and second proceedings are inter‐related, and the Company and the majority shareholder are each defending
the allegations. The Company is expecting that this matter will be heard by the courts in the first half of the 2018 year.
Whilst the company is optimistic about the outcome of the case, it is unable to assess the likely probability of success
with regards to the court hearing at this point in time.
Change in Registered Office and Principal Place of business
On 19 January 2017, the company completed the relocation from its leased office at Eight Mile Plains to a leased office in
Edward Street, Brisbane. The new address details are in the directory at the back of this report.
MDS decision to mine
On 15 June 2017, the Company agreed with Sojitz Coal Mining that it had made a decision to mine the MDS project. The
agreement puts in place timeline and commitment for expenditure that should see mining commence within seven
months of the signing date. The ultimate commitment value beyond an initial $800,000 payment for water
compensation is not known.

Likely developments and expected results of operations
Further information on likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of operations have
not been included in this Financial Report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in unreasonable
prejudice to the Group. The Company will continue to keep shareholders fully informed when new information becomes
available.
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Directors' report (continued)

Environmental regulation
The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect of its activities. The Group cannot commence any
project until such time as appropriate approval has been obtained from the relevant government environment
authorities. There have been no known breaches of these requirements during the period.
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Directors' report (continued)

Information on directors
Mr Qian Yu
Executive Director ‐ Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (age 32)
Appointed 31 July 2014
Experience and expertise
Mr Qian Yu was the Assistant General Manager of the Development and Planning Department of Henan Energy and
Chemical Industry Group (HNEC, listed on the Fortune Global 500). Mr Yu graduated from Peking University, majoring in
Geology. He has significant experience in capital markets and company operations, and he has handled many merger
and acquisition projects and other transactions, involving Chinese listed companies, such as Henan Yinge Industrial
Investment Co., Ltd. and Henan Dayou Energy Co., Ltd. He also participated in the IPO of Yongmei Group Co., Ltd. Before
joining HNEC in January 2009, Mr Yu worked in Yongcheng Coal Holding Group at its branch office in Shanghai. After that
time, Mr Yu worked as the Economic Manager of HNEC, Supervisor of the Capital Operations Department of HNEC, and
Assistant General Manager of Guolong Investment Co., Ltd. In March 2013, Mr. Yu became the Assistant General
Manager of the Development and Planning Department.
Other current directorships
U&D Coal Limited's controlled entities. Mr Yu is Company Secretary for Australian Kunqian International Energy Co., Pty
Ltd
Former directorships in the last 3 years
Australian Kunqian International Energy Co., Pty Ltd
Special responsibilities
Chairman of the board
Chairman of the remuneration committee
Member of the health, safety, environment and community committee
Member of the audit and risk management committee
Member of the disclosure committee
Interest in shares and options
No ordinary shares in U&D Coal Limited
Mr Gavin Houghton
Non‐executive Director (age 48)
Appointed 11 November 2013
Experience and expertise
Mr Gavin Houghton is an experienced mining executive, having worked across the full portfolio of metals, minerals and
mining jurisdictions in his 23 year resources career. After beginning his career with BHP he has held senior executive
roles with North Limited and Rio Tinto plc.
Other current directorships
Managing Director of RKLAB AG in Switzerland
Former directorships in the last 3 years
None
Special responsibilities
Chairman of the audit and risk management committee
Member of the health, safety, environment and community committee
Member of the remuneration committee
Member of the disclosure committee
Interest in shares and options
No ordinary shares in U&D Coal Limited
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Directors' report (continued)

Information on directors (continued)
Mr Wenliang Wang
Non‐executive Director (age 54)
Appointed 11 November 2013
Experience and expertise
Mr Wenliang Wang is a senior engineer who has been employed by Yima from September 1988. He has significant coal
mining and geological experience from successive progression through the Yima Group. He has held the following
positions at Xi’an coal mine: General Manager of High pressure hose factory, General Manager of the coal mine. In
addition, he was also the Director of Human Resource Department of Yima. Mr Wang was appointed as the General
Manager of Yima in September 2013.
Other current directorships
None
Former directorships in the last 3 years
None
Special responsibilities
None
Interest in shares and options
No ordinary shares in U&D Coal Limited
Mr Shining Hou
Non‐executive Director (age 51)
Appointed 1 August 2014
Experience and expertise
Mr Shining Hou is the Vice Chief Executive Engineer (VCEE) and Assistant General Manager of Henan Energy and
Chemical Industry Group Co., Ltd (HNEC, listed on the Fortune Global 500). Mr Hou has an EMBA Degree from Beijing
Jiaotong University, and a Bachelor’s Degree in Geology from China University of Mining & Technology. Mr Hou has
more than 20 years’ work experience in geology and mining, enjoys a professor‐level title of senior engineer, and is the
visiting professor of a number of universities. He previously worked with Baiji Mining, Chensilou Mining, Longyu
Exploration Co. Ltd and Yongcheng Coal Holding Group between September 1987 and February 2014. Before joining
HNEC, Mr Hou was the Chief Engineer and Director of Yongcheng Coal Holding Group, HNEC's largest subsidiary.

Other current directorships
None
Former directorships in the last 3 years
None
Special responsibilities
None
Interest in shares and options
No ordinary shares in U&D Coal Limited
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Directors' report (continued)

Information on directors (continued)
Mr Shulong Ma
Non‐executive Director (age 51)
Appointed 1 August 2014
Experience and expertise
Mr Shulong Ma is a practising lawyer and the Managing Partner of Henan Jinxueyuan Law Firm. He is a member of the
Standing Committee of the Henan Provincial People’s Congress, Vice Chairman of the Henan Provincial Bar Association,
and an arbitrator at Zhengzhou Arbitration Commission. Mr Ma commenced practising law in 1984 and has significant
experience in the study and practice of law. He acts as a legal consultant to a number of corporations and groups,
including Henan Energy and Chemical Industry Group, Henan Investment Group, Central China Securities, and Henan
Zhongyuan Expressway Co., Ltd.
Other current directorships
None
Former directorships in the last 3 years
None
Special responsibilities
None
Interest in shares and options
No ordinary shares in U&D Coal Limited

Company secretary
Peter John Edwards, BCA, CA(NZ).
Non‐executive Director (age 58)
Appointed 20 November 2013
Experience and expertise
Peter was appointed to the position of Company Secretary in November 2013. Peter holds a
Bachelor of Commerce and Administration degree from the University of Wellington, New Zealand.
He is a Chartered Accountant with over 30 years' experience in commerce and held CFO roles in
listed entities in Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. Peter was the Company Secretary
at Endocoal Limited (ASX:EOC) before UND acquired that Company in May 2013.
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Directors' report (continued)

Meetings of directors
The numbers of meetings of the Company's board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended
30 June 2016, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:
Meetings of committees

Mr Dongsheng Wu
Mr Wenliang Wang
Mr Gavin Houghton
Mr Qian Yu
Mr Shulong Ma
Mr Shining Hou

Full meetings
of directors
A
B
0
0
0
1
1
1
1
1
1
1
0
1

Audit and risk
management
committee
A
‐
‐
1
1
‐
‐

B
‐
‐
1
1
‐
‐

Health, safety,
environment and
community committee
A
B
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Remuneration
committee
A
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

B
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

A ‐ Number of meetings attended.
B ‐ Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year.

Retirement, election and continuation in office of directors
The Company's constitution requires that one‐third of the Directors or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not more than one‐third of the Directors, must retire at the annual general meeting.
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Directors' report (continued)

Remuneration report
The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the
Corporations Act 2001.

a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The objective of the Group's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and
appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives
and the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms with market practice for delivery of reward. The board
ensures that executive reward satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:
•
•
•
•
•

competitiveness and reasonableness
acceptability to shareholders
performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation
transparency
capital management.

In consultation with external remuneration consultants, the Group has structured an executive remuneration framework
that is market competitive and complimentary to the reward strategy of the organisation.
Alignment to shareholders' interests:
• has economic profit as a core component of plan design
• focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and delivering
constant return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non financial drivers of value
• attracts and retains high calibre executives.
Alignment to participants' interests:
• rewards capability and experience
• reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth
• provides a clear structure for earning rewards
• provides recognition for contribution.
The framework provides a mix of fixed and variable pay, and a blend of short and long term incentives. As executives
gain seniority with the Group, the balance of this mix shifts to a higher proportion of ''at risk'' rewards.
Non executive directors
Fees and payments to non executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the
directors. Non executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the board. The chairperson's fees are
determined independently to the fees of non executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market.
The chairperson is not present at any discussions relating to determination of their own remuneration.
Non executive directors do not receive performance based pay.
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Remuneration report (continued)
a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (continued)
Directors' fees
The current base fees were last reviewed in January 2014 and are included in the Company’s constitution.
Non executive directors' fees are determined within an aggregate directors' fee pool limit, which is periodically
recommended for approval by shareholders. The maximum currently stands at $500,000 per annum as defined in the
Company's constitution.
The following annual fees have been applied:
From 1 July 2015
to 30 June 2016
$
Base fees
Chairperson
Other non‐executive directors

‐
60,000

Additional fees
Chairperson of audit and risk management committee.
Chairperson of the health, safety, environment and community
committee.

From 1 July 2014
to 30 June 2015
$
‐
60,000

‐

‐

‐

‐

Retirement allowances for directors
The board does not permit retirement allowances for non executive directors appointed, in line with guidance from the
ASX Corporate Governance Council on non executive directors' remuneration. Superannuation contributions required
under the Australian superannuation guarantee legislation continue to be made and are deducted from the directors'
overall fee entitlements.
Executive pay
The executive pay and reward framework has three components:
• base pay and benefits, including superannuation
• short and long term performance incentives
• through the issue of converting preference shares or rights to acquire options.
The combination of these comprises an executive's total remuneration.
Base pay and benefits
Executives are offered a competitive base pay that comprises the fixed component of pay and rewards. Base pay for
executives is reviewed annually to ensure the executive's pay is competitive with the market. An executive's pay is also
reviewed on promotion.
There are no guaranteed base pay increases included in any executives' contracts.
Superannuation
Retirement benefits are contribution based and rights of election applies on which fund the defined contributions are
made.
Short term and long‐term incentives
Short and Long term incentives are provided to certain employees via the issue of converting preference shares or rights
to acquire options.
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Remuneration report (continued)
a. Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration (continued)
Long‐term incentives (continued)
U&D Coal Limited is yet to implement a short term incentive (STI) or long term incentive (LTI) plan.
Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors, the key management personnel of the Group (as defined in AASB 124
Related Party Disclosures) and the five highest paid executives of U&D Coal Limited and the U&D Coal Limited group are
set out in the following tables.
The key management personnel of the Group include the four executive officers. Whilst Mr Yu is executive chairman
and chief executive officer (CEO), his remuneration is paid by the majority shareholder. Those executives that report
directly to the CEO are:
• Peter Edwards – Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
• Darren Walker – General Manager Resource Development
• Matthew Page – General Manager Mine Development.

b. Details of remuneration
Details of the nature and amount of remuneration of the directors and key management personnel of the Company and
the Group are provided in the tables on the following pages.

2016

Short‐term employee benefits
Non‐
Cash salary,
monetary
Cash
consulting &
benefits*
bonus
directors' fees
$
$
$

Non‐executive directors
G. Houghton
Sub‐total non‐executive
directors
Other key management personnel
P. Edwards
D. Walker
M. Page
Total executives and other key
management personnel
Total

Post‐
employment
benefits
Super‐
annuation
$

Long‐term
benefits
Long
service
leave
$

Termi‐
nation
benefits
$

Share‐
based
payments
Equity
settled
options
$

Total
$

54,794

‐

‐

5,205

‐

‐

‐

59,999

54,794

‐

‐

5,205

‐

‐

‐

59,999

250,000
235,300
210,000

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
12,050
10,382
11,211

‐
23,750
22,354
19,950

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

285,800
268,036
241,161

695,300
750,094

‐
‐

33,643
33,643

66,054
71,259

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

794,997
854,996

* Non monetary benefits comprises company motor vehicles.
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Remuneration report (continued)
b. Details of remuneration (continued)
There have been no other post‐employment benefits paid to directors and key management personnel other than those
disclosed in the tables.

2015

Short‐term employee benefits
Non‐
Cash salary,
Cash
monetary
consulting &
bonus
benefits*
directors' fees
$
$
$

Non‐executive directors
G. Dickie
(from 11 November 2013)
G. Houghton
(from 11 November 2013)
Sub‐total non‐executive
Executive directors
H. Liu
W. Liu
Y. Zhang
Other key management personnel
P. Edwards
D. Walker
M. Page
(from 6 January 2014)
Total executives and other key
management personnel
Total

5,000

Post‐
employment
benefits
Super‐
annuation
$

Long‐term
benefits
Long
service
leave
$

Termi‐
nation
benefits
$

Share‐
based
payments
Equity
settled
options
$

Total
$

54,794

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
5,205

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

5,000
59,999

59,794

‐

‐

5,205

‐

‐

‐

64,999

75,194
49,112
40,385

‐
‐
‐

1,713
3,206
660

3,837
2,740
3,837

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

80,744
55,058
44,882

250,000
235,300
210,000

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
11,716
10,143
6,813

‐
23,750
22,354
19,950

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐
‐

285,466
267,797
236,763

859,991
919,785

‐
‐

34,251
34,251

76,468
81,673

‐
‐

‐
‐

‐
‐

970,710
1,035,709

* Non monetary benefits comprises company motor vehicles.

Superannuation contributions are made in accordance with Commonwealth Government Legislation into a defined
contribution scheme elected by each employee. The amounts disclosed as remuneration represent each person's share
of the current service cost of the plan, measured in accordance with AASB 119 Employee Benefits.

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:
Fixed remuneration
2016
2015
Directors
G. Houghton (from 11 November 2013)
G. Dickie (from 11 November 2013 to 21 July 2014)
Y. Zhang (from 5 May 2013 to 31 July 2014)
H. Liu (from 1 October 2012 to 31 July 2014)
W. Liu (from 19 March 2013 to 31 July 2014)
Other key management personnel
P. Edwards (from 13 May 2013)
D. Walker (from 13 May 2013)
M. Page (from 6 January 2014)
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100%
‐
‐
‐
‐

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%

Directors' report (continued)

Remuneration report (continued)
c. Service agreements
On appointment to the board, the Australian based non‐executive directors entered into a service agreement with the
Company in the form of a letter of appointment. The letter of appointment summarises the board policies and terms,
including compensation, relevant to the office of director.
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary and the other key
management personnel are also formalised in service agreements. Other major provisions of the agreements relating to
remuneration are set out below.
All contracts with executives may be terminated early by either party providing the relevant notice period, subject to
termination payments as detailed below.
Name

Term of
agreement

P. Edwards (CFO)
D. Walker (General Manager Resource Development)
M. Page (General Manager Mine Development)

Base salary including
Termination
superannuation *
benefits ^
$
273,750 3 months base salary
257,654 2 months base salary
229,950 1 months base salary

On‐going
On‐going
On‐going

Non‐monetary
benefits
Motor vehicle
Motor vehicle
Motor vehicle

* Base salaries quoted are for the year ended 30 June 2016. They are reviewed annually by the Board.
^ Termination benefits are payable on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct; unless
otherwise indicated, they are equal to the base salary for the remaining term of the agreement.

d. Share based payments
Options
The Company has not provided any remuneration by way of options to the directors or other key management of the
Group. Some of the directors and key management hold share options on the same terms and conditions as other
investors in the initial public offering (IPO).
Loans to directors and executives
There were no loans advanced to directors and executives.

e. Equity instruments
(i)

Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of share options
No share options have been provided as remuneration to directors or other key management personnel of the
Group.

(ii) Option holdings
The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each current or past
director of U&D Coal Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related
parties, are set out below:
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Remuneration report (continued)
e. Equity instruments (continued)

2016

Balance at
the start of
the year

Granted to
Shareholders
as part
of the IPO

Directors of U&D Coal Limited
Yinan Zhang*
14,000
Hao Liu*
7,000
Wei Liu*
14,000
Other key management personnel of the Group
Peter Edwards
2,800

Exercised
(or lapsed)

Balance at
the end of
the year

Vested and
exercisable

‐
‐
‐

(6,000)
(3,000)
(6,000)

8,000
4,000
8,000

8,000
4,000
8,000

‐

(1,200)

1,600

1,600

Balance at
the end of
the year

Vested and
exercisable

(6,000)
(3,000)
(6,000)

14,000
7,000
14,000

14,000
7,000
14,000

(1,200)

2,800

2,800

* All 3 Directors resigned on 31 July 2014
Granted to
Shareholders
Balance
at
2015
as part
the start of
of the IPO
the year
Directors of U&D Coal Limited
Yinan Zhang*
20,000
‐
Hao Liu*
10,000
‐
Wei Liu*
20,000
‐
Other key management personnel of the Group
Peter Edwards
4,000
‐

Exercised
(or lapsed)

* All 3 Directors resigned on 31 July 2014

(iii) Share holdings
In the year ended 30 June 2016, no directors past or present, nor key management personnel held shares in the
Company.
In the previous financial year ended 30 June 2015, the shares held by directors and key management personnel
were bought back through the Selective Buyback Offer. The numbers of shares in the Company held during the
2015 financial year by each director of U&D Coal Limited and other key management personnel of the Group,
including their personally related parties, are set out below.
Received
during the
Bought back
Balance at
Bought as
year on
under the Balance at the
2015
the start of
part of the
exercise of
Selective
end of the
the year
IPO
options Buyback offer
year
Directors of U&D Coal Limited
Ordinary shares
Yinan Zhang*
20,000
20,000
‐
(20,000)
‐
Hao Liu*
10,000
10,000
‐
(10,000)
‐
Wei Liu*
20,000
20,000
‐
(20,000)
‐
Other key management personnel of the Group
Peter Edwards
4,000
4,000
‐
(4,000)
‐
* All 3 Directors resigned on 31 July 2014

All Shares held by Former Directors and other key management personnel of the group were bought back through
the Selective Buyback Offer.
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Remuneration report (continued)
Insurance of officers
During the financial year, the U&D group paid a premium of $15,000 (2014 : $20,000) to insure the directors and
secretary of the Company and its controlled entities.
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought
against the officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities
incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from
conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of
information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to the Company. It is not possible
to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those relating to other
liabilities.

Indemnity of auditors
The Company has not agreed to indemnify the auditor under certain circumstances as permitted in the Corporations Act
2001.

Proceedings on behalf of the Company
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party, for the purpose of taking
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Group with leave of the Court under section 237 of
the Corporations Act 2001.
Non‐audit services
The Group may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the
auditor's expertise and experience with the Company and/or the Group are important.
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for non audit services provided during
the year are set out below.
The board of directors has considered the position and, in accordance with advice received from the audit and risk
management committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non audit services is compatible with the general standard
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors are satisfied that the provision of
non audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
• All non audit services have been reviewed by the audit and risk management committee to ensure they do not
impact the impartiality and objectivity of the auditor.
• None of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.
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Proceedings on behalf of the Company (continued)
Non‐audit services (continued)
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for non audit services provided by the auditor of the parent
entity, its related practices and non related audit firms:

Taxation services
PricewaterhouseCoopers Australian firm:
Tax compliance services
Total remuneration for non‐audit services

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

34,080
34,080

81,284
81,284

Auditor's independence declaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is
included in this annual report.
Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

Directors resolution
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors.

Qian Yu
Chairperson

Brisbane
2 August 2017
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U&D COAL LIMITED
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 30 June 2016
Notes

2016
$

2015
$

Revenue from continuing operations

5

77,884

357,672

Accountancy and audit expenses
Corporate consultants and secretarial expenses
Corporate office
Depreciation
Employee benefit expenses
Finance costs
Travel and accommodation expenses
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Other expenses
Impairment on loan to related party and interest receivable
Legal costs on ASX appeal process and share buyback
Legal costs relating to section 737 proceedings
Impairment on exploration and evaluation expenditure
Write off intangible assets
Write off non‐current receivables

19

(127,167)
(253,273)
(490,164)
(64,887)
(1,024,671)
(3,886,361)
(82,798)
(5,573,719)
(89,780)
(70,510)
‐
‐
(7,000,000)
‐
‐

(226,182)
(899,479)
(664,495)
(97,290)
(1,472,992)
(3,128,711)
(122,136)
(1,659,166)
(168,509)
(1,072,548)
(231,021)
(741,328)
(22,332,626)
(400,000)
(536,933)

(18,585,446)

(33,395,744)

11
6
6
12
9

12

Loss before income tax
Income tax (expense) / benefit

7

Loss for the year

‐

(18,585,446)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

‐

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the
owners of U&D Coal Limited

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity
holders of the company
Basic loss per share
Diluted loss per share

(18,585,446)

30
30

Cents
(1.9)
(1.9)

The above consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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‐

(33,395,744)
‐

(33,395,744)

Cents
(3.3)
(3.3)

U&D COAL LIMITED
Consolidated balance sheet
As at 30 June 2016
Notes
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Total current assets

2016
$

2015
$

8
9

243,527
558,766
802,293

1,074,252
2,901,519
3,975,771

10
11
12

112,445
209,060
89,406,580
89,728,085

220,592
270,372
96,385,003
96,875,967

90,530,378

100,851,738

13
14
15

716,787
‐
77,348
794,135

1,282,085
70,000,000
91,375
71,373,460

16

103,418,360
103,418,360

24,574,949
24,574,949

Total liabilities

104,212,495

95,948,409

Net (liabilities) / assets

(13,682,117)

4,903,329

45,941,395
832,674
(60,456,186)

45,941,395
832,674
(41,870,740)

(13,682,117)

4,903,329

Non‐current assets
Receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Total non‐current assets
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current borrowings
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non‐current liabilities
Non‐current borrowings
Total non‐current liabilities

EQUITY
Contributed equity
Reserves
Accumulated losses

17
18
18

Total equity

The above consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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U&D COAL LIMITED
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
For the year ended 30 June 2016

Notes
Opening balance at 1 July 2014

Contributed
equity
$

Reserves
$

100,099,441

832,674

Total comprehensive loss for the year ended 30
June 2015
Acquisition and cancellation of shares
issued to KQ under the IPO through the
settlement deed
Acquisition and cancellation of shares
issued under the IPO through the
buyback offer
Closing balance at 30 June 2015

‐

Total
equity
$

(8,474,996)

92,457,119

(33,395,744)

(33,395,744)

17

(50,000,000)

‐

‐

(50,000,000)

17

(4,158,046)

‐

‐

(4,158,046)

45,941,395

Total comprehensive loss for the year ended 30
June 2016
Closing balance at 30 June 2016

‐

Accumulated
losses
$

‐
45,941,395

832,674

‐
832,674

(41,870,740)

4,903,329

(18,585,446)

(18,585,446)

(60,456,186)

(13,682,117)

The above consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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U&D COAL LIMITED
Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 30 June 2016
2016
$

2015
$

28

7,484
2,200,000
(4,186,932)
(7,669,537)
(9,648,985)

84,566
2,000,558
(2,253,191)
(4,634,434)
(4,802,501)

11

(5,895)

(60,653)

‐
(21,575)
2,319
(25,151)

(3,227)
(7,062,264)
128,000
(6,998,144)

78,843,411
(70,000,000)
‐
8,843,411

24,000,000
‐
(54,158,046)
(30,158,046)

(830,725)
1,074,252
243,527

(41,958,691)
43,032,943
1,074,252

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received
Receipts from customers
Finance costs paid
Payments to suppliers and employees
Net cash outflow from operating activities

9

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Advances relating to Wiggins Island Coal Export Terminal
(WICET)
Payments for tenement development costs
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment
Net cash outflow from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings
Acquisition and cancellation of shares
Net cash inflow / (outflow) from financing activities
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

8

The above consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the financial statements
1.

Summary of significant accounting policies
This note provides a list of all significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated. The financial statements are for U&D Coal Limited ("the company" or "the parent entity") and its
subsidiaries (together "the Group"). The Group is a for profit entity for the purpose of preparing the financial
statements.

(a)

Basis of preparation
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues Group
Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. Comparative information has been reclassified where appropriate
to enhance comparability.
Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of the U&D Coal Limited Group also comply with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Early adoption of standards
The Group has not early adopted any standards.
Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of
primary economic environment in which the entity operates ("the functional currency").
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is U&D Coal Limited functional
and presentation currency.
Rounding of amounts
The Group is of a kind referred to in ASIC Legislative Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and
Investment Commission, relating to the 'rounding off' of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts in the
financial statements have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest dollar.
Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3.
Prior year de‐listing
U&D Coal Limited was delisted from the Australian Stock Exchange (ASX) on 17 June 2015.

(b)

Going concern basis of accounting
U&D Coal Limited is a public unlisted Company. As an exploration company, not currently generating operating
revenues, the Company has a strong reliance on its current shareholders to provide on‐going support to finance
its operations. Whilst other funding sources may be available in the future, the Company advises that for the near
future it is totally reliant upon its major shareholder, Australia Kunqian International Energy Co., Pty Ltd ( KQ) for
continuing support.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(b)

Going concern basis of accounting (continued)
At the year ended 30 June 2016 the Group’s current tenement package included over 6,109 sq km, most of which
are held in the Bowen Basin region of Queensland, which is immediately adjacent to many existing coal producing
mines. At 30 June 2016, the Group had 26 granted tenements and a 50% share of a joint venture tenement. The
Group plans to develop at least two new high quality coal mines over the next three years, commencing with the
Company's Meteor Downs South (MDS) Project in 2017.
The Group has experienced an operating loss of $18.6 million, operating cash outflows of $9.6 million and a net
outflow of $0.8 million in the current period. The Group has net liabilities of $13.7 million at the end of the
reporting period.
The continuing viability of U&D Coal Limited and its ability to continue as a going concern and meet its debts and
commitments as they fall due, including its future exploration commitments and project development aspirations
is dependent in the near future upon its major shareholder KQ for continuing support and in the longer term
securing additional funds.
Whilst the directors are currently considering a range of strategic funding options, the Company's current
indebtedness to their majority shareholder, minimises the opportunities to source alternative funding solutions.
As none of the strategic options have yet been secured there is a material uncertainty that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and, therefore, that it may be unable to realise its
assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
The Group continually monitors its cash flow requirements to ensure that it has sufficient funds available to meet
its contractual commitments and expenses as they fall due. The Group adjusts its spending requirements
progressively to ensure that it can continue as a going concern. The Group does not commit to expenditure unless
it has sufficient cash reserves to meet the expenditure.
The directors are confident that the majority shareholder will continue to fund operations through the MDS
development and therefore have prepared the financial report on a going concern basis. The directors are
continuing to provide the majority shareholder with their minimum funding requirements. The majority
shareholder continues to provide financial support in this regard. Subsequent to the year end KQ has provided a
further $2.6 million to the date of this report to support the Company's working capital.
During the year, the Company has received $6.9 million funding from the majority shareholder for working capital
and $70.0 million to enable the Group to repay the China Construction Bank Corporation ( CCB) loan in May 2016.
The $73.8 million loan facility from KQ was due to expire on 1 July 2017. On 26 July 2017 KQ agreed to an
amendment deed extending the $73.8 million and $20.0 million loans to 1 August 2018.
At this time, the directors are of the opinion that no asset is likely to be realised for an amount less than the
amount at which it is recorded in the financial report as at 30 June 2016. Accordingly, no adjustments have been
made to the financial report relating to the recoverability and classification of the asset carrying amounts or the
amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern.
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1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(c)

Principles of consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries of U&D Coal Limited
as at 30 June 2016 and the results of the subsidiaries for the year then ended.
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one‐half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or converting are considered when assessing
whether the Group controls another entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de‐
consolidated from the date that control ceases.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Non‐controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated balance
sheet respectively.

(ii)

Associates
Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control, generally
accompanying a shareholding between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted
for using the equity accounting method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost. The Group’s
investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition.
The Group’s share of its associates’ post‐acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and its share of
post‐acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. The cumulative post‐
acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying value amount of the investment. Dividends receivable
from associates are recognised as reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any
other unsecured long‐term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment to the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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(c)

Principles of consolidation (continued)

(iii)

Joint arrangements
Under AASB 11 Joint Arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement. U&D Coal Limited currently has a joint operation.
Joint operations
U&D Coal Limited recognises its direct right to the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses of joint operations
and its share of any jointly held or incurred assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. These have been
incorporated in the financial statements under the appropriate headings. Details of the joint operation are set out
in note 25.
Joint ventures
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method, after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated balance sheet.

(iv)

Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non‐controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions
with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying
amounts of the controlling and non‐controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount of the adjustment to non‐controlling interests and any consideration paid or
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of U&D Coal Limited.
When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss.
If the ownership interest in a jointly‐controlled entity or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

(d)

Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Chief
Operating Decision Maker. The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments.
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(e)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue
are net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as
described below. The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies
relating to the sale have been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i)

(f)

Interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group
reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period's taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in Australia. Management periodically evaluate positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. Deferred income tax is provided in
full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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(f)

Income tax (continued)
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

(i)

Investment allowance
Companies within the Group may be entitled to claim special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets
(investment allowances). The Group accounts for such allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance
reduces income tax payable and current tax expense. A deferred tax asset is recognised for unclaimed tax credits
that are carried forward as deferred tax assets.

(ii)

Tax consolidation
U&D Coal Limited and its wholly‐owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation
legislation.
The head entity, U&D Coal Limited, and its controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group account for their own
current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated
Group continues to be a stand alone taxpayer in its own right.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, U&D Coal Limited also recognises the current tax
liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed
from the controlled entities in the tax consolidated Group.
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.
Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding
agreement are recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly‐owned tax consolidated entities.

(g)

Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease's inception at the fair value
of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental
obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other short‐term and long‐term payables. Each lease payment
is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the asset's useful
life or over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the
Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as
lessee are classified as operating leases (note 21(c)). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives
received from the lessor) are charged to the profit and loss on a straight‐line basis over the period of the lease.
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(h)

Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments or
other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair
values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration arrangement and the fair
value of any pre‐existing equity interest in the subsidiary. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. On an acquisition‐by‐acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non‐controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non‐
controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non‐controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition‐date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group's share
of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the subsidiary acquired and the measurement of all amounts has been reviewed, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted
to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's incremental borrowing
rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under
comparable terms and conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial
liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

(i)

Impairment of assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash‐generating units). Non‐financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(j)

Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand,
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short‐term, highly liquid investments with original maturities
that are readily converting to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, and bank overdrafts.
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(k)

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement
within 30 days. They are presented as current assets unless collection is not expected for more than 12 months
after the reporting date.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. An allowance account (provision for impairment of trade
receivables) is used when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due
according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than
30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the impairment
allowance is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short‐term receivables are not discounted if
the effect of the discounting is immaterial.
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss within other expenses. When a trade receivable
for which an impairment allowance has been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is
written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited
against other expenses in profit or loss.

(l)

Investments
Classification
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, held‐to‐maturity investments and available‐for‐sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of
its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held‐to‐maturity, re‐evaluates this
designation at the end of each reporting date.

(i)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non‐derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12
months after the reporting period which are classified as non‐current assets. Loans and receivables are included
in trade and other receivables (note 9) in the consolidated balance sheet.
Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade‐date ‐ the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in profit or loss. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables and held‐to‐maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
Available‐for‐sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried
at fair value. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 'financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss' category are presented in profit or loss within other income or other expenses in the period in
which they arise. Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are disclosed in note 2.
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(l)

Investments (continued)
Impairment
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or Group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available‐for‐sale, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities
are impaired. If any such evidence exists for available‐for‐sale financial assets, the cumulative loss ‐ measured as
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial
asset previously recognised in profit or loss ‐ is reclassified from equity and recognised in the profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment. Impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity instruments classified as
available‐for‐sale are not reversed through profit or loss.

(m)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure
that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate
asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight‐line method to allocate the net cost of each item of property, plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
• Leasehold improvements and office equipment – over 3 to 8 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(i)).
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in
the profit and loss.

(n)
(i)

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 1(h). Goodwill on acquisitions is included in intangible assets. Goodwill
on acquisitions of associates is included in investment in associates. Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired,
and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include
the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
Goodwill is allocated to cash‐generating units for the purposes of impairment testing. The allocation is made to
those cash generating units or Groups of cash generating units that are expected to benefit from the business
combination in which goodwill arose, identified according to operating segments (note 4).

(ii)

Rights in projects
Costs incurred on rights in projects are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will,
after considering its commercial and technical feasibility, be completed and generate future economic benefits.
Costs capitalised on rights in projects are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the
asset is ready for use on a straight‐line basis over its useful life.

40

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

1.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(o)

Tenement exploration, evaluation and development expenditure
Exploration, evaluation and development expenditure costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of
interest. These costs include the costs of mapping, drilling, analysis and testing in an area of interest. They include
administrative and general expenses where those costs are directly attributable to the exploration and evaluation
activity.
Exploration and evaluation costs, recognised at cost, are carried forward where right of tenure of the area of
interest is current and they are expected to be recouped through the sale or successful development and
exploration of the area of interest, or, where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not
yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.
When an area of interest has been previously impaired, any additional exploration and evaluation costs will be
expensed to the extent that the recoverable amount is less than or equal to the carrying amount.
Development costs related to an area of interest are carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be
recouped either through sale or successful exploitation of the area of interest. When an area of interest is
abandoned or the directors decide that it is not commercial, any accumulated costs in respect of that area are
written off in the financial period the decision is made.
When production commences, the accumulated costs of the relevant area of interest are amortised over the life
of the area according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable reserve or offset against revenue
through the sale of the area of interest.
A regular review has been undertaken on each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to
carry forward costs in relation to the area of interest. Accumulated costs in relation to any abandoned areas are
written off in full against profit in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.
Costs of site restoration are provided over the life of the facility from when exploration commences and are
included in the costs of that stage. Site restoration costs include the dismantling and removal of mining plant,
equipment and building structures, waste removal and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with the relevant
clauses of the mining permits. Such costs are determined by using estimates of future costs, current legal
requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis.

(p)

Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year
which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(q)

Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is
probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down,
the fee is capitalised as a prepayment of liquidity services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it
relates.
Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged,
cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been
extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non‐cash asset transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income or finance costs. Borrowings are classified as
current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the reporting period.
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(r)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that
is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
profit or loss as finance costs.

(s)

Provisions
Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the Group has a
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for
future operating losses.
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to
settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present
value is a pre‐tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(t)

Employee benefits

(i)

Short‐term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non‐monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within
12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees' services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts expected
to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liability for annual leave and accumulating sick leave is recognised
in the provision for employee benefits. All other short‐term employee benefit obligations are presented as
payables.

(ii)

Other long‐term employee benefit obligations
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the
reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting
date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the
estimated future cash outflows.

(iii)

Retirement benefit options
The Group makes contributions to a complying superannuation fund equal to or in excess of the superannuation
guarantee levy requirements. Contributions are recognised as an expense as they become payable.

(iv)

Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses in the period in which they are determined by the
Remuneration Committee or where contractually obliged.

(v)

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to providing termination benefits as a
result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
end of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
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(t)

Employee benefits (continued)

(vi)

Share based payments
Equity‐settled share‐based payments to employees and others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the determination of the fair value of equity‐
settled share‐based transactions are set out in note 27.
The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity‐settled share‐based payments is expensed on a straight‐
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest.
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments expected
to vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the
cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share based payments
reserve.
Equity‐settled share‐based payment transactions with parties other than employees are measured at the fair
value of the goods or services received, except where that fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case
they are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at the date the entity obtains
the goods or the counterparty renders the service.
For cash‐settled share‐based payments, a liability is recognised for the goods or services acquired, measured
initially at the fair value of the liability. At the end of each reporting period until the liability is settled, and at the
date of settlement, the fair value of the liability is remeasured, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit
or loss for the year.

(u)

Contributed equity
Ordinary shares and other capital investment from shareholders are classified as equity (note 17).
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the
acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
If the entity reacquires its own equity instruments, for example as the result of a share buy‐back, those
instruments are deducted from equity and the associated shares are cancelled. No gain or loss is recognised in the
profit or loss and the consideration paid including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income
taxes) is recognised directly in equity.

(v)

Dividends
Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the reporting period.
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(w)

Earnings per share

(i)

Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year.

(ii)

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares, and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(x)

Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset
or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the
consolidated balance sheet.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows.

(y)

Parent entity information
The financial information for the parent entity, U&D Coal Limited, disclosed in note 29 has been prepared on the
same basis as the consolidated financial statements.

(z)

Investment in subsidiaries
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statement of U&D Coal Limited. Dividends
received are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss.

(aa)

New accounting standards and interpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June
2016 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s assessment of the impact of
these new standards and interpretations is set out below.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
AASB 16 Leases
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(aa)

New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

(i) AASB 9 Financial Instruments
Nature of change
AASB 9 addresses the classification, measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities and
introduces new rules for hedge accounting and a new impairment model for financial assets.
Impact
Following the changes approved by the AASB in December 2014, the Group no longer expects any impact from
the new classification, measurement and derecognition rules on the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities. There will also be no impact on the Group’s accounting for financial liabilities, as the new requirements
only affect the accounting for financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss and the
Group does not have any such liabilities. The new hedging rules align hedge accounting more closely with the
Group’s risk management practices. As a general rule it will be easier to apply hedge accounting going forward as
the standard introduces a more principles‐based approach. The new standard also introduces expanded
disclosure requirements and changes in presentation. The new impairment model is an expected credit loss (ECL)
model which may result in the earlier recognition of credit losses. The Group has not yet assessed how its own
hedging arrangements and impairment provisions would be affected by the new rules.
Mandatory application date/ Date of adoption by Group
Must be applied for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. Based on the transitional provisions
in the completed AASB 9, early adoption in phases was only permitted for annual reporting periods beginning
before 1 February 2015. After that date, the new rules must be adopted in their entirety.
(ii) AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
Nature of change
The AASB has issued a new standard for the recognition of revenue. This will replace AASB 118 which covers
contracts for goods and services and AASB 111 which covers construction contracts. The new standard is based
on the principle that revenue is recognised when control of a good or service transfers to a customer ‐ so the
notion of control replaces the existing notion of risks and rewards. The standard permits a modified retrospective
approach for the adoption. Under this approach entities will recognise transitional adjustments in retained
earnings on the date of initial application (e.g. 1 July 2017), i.e. without restating the comparative period. They
will only need to apply the new rules to contracts that are not completed as of the date of initial application.
Impact
At this stage, the Group is not able to estimate the impact of the new rules on the Group’s financial statements.
The Group will make more detailed assessments of the impact over the next 12 months.
Mandatory application date/ Date of adoption by Group
Mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2018. Expected date of adoption by the Group: 1
January 2018.
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1.
(aa)

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
New accounting standards and interpretations (continued)

(iii) AASB 16 Leases
Nature of change
AASB 16 was issued in February 2016. It will result in almost all leases being recognised on the statement of
financial position, as the distinction between operating and finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only
exceptions are short‐term and low‐value leases. The accounting for lessors will not significantly change.
Impact
The standard will affect primarily the accounting for the Group's operating leases. Information on the
undiscounted amount of the Group's operating lease commitments at 30 June 2016 under AASB 17, the current
leasing policy, is disclosed in note 1(g). The Group has not yet determined to what extent its operating lease
commitments will result in the recognition of an asset and a liability for future payments and how this will affect
the Group's profit and classification of cash flows. Some of the commitment may be covered by the exception for
short‐term and low‐value leases and some commitments may relate to arrangement that will not qualify as leases
under AASB16.
Mandatory application date/ Date of adoption by Group
Mandatory for financial years commencing on or after 1 January 2019. At this stage, the Company does not
intend to adopt the standard before its operative date.
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2.

Financial risk management
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's
overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The CEO conducts a quarterly risk
assessment which is reported to the Board.
Risk management is carried out by the CEO under policies approved by the Board of Directors. The CEO identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co‐operation with the Company’s operating unit. The CEO provides written
principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as, interest rate
and credit risks and investing excess capital.
Consolidated
2016
$

The Group hold the following financial instruments:

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

(a)

2015
$

243,527
671,211
914,738

1,074,252
3,122,111
4,196,363

103,418,360
716,787
104,135,147

94,574,949
1,282,085
95,857,034

Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk
The Group is not currently exposed to foreign exchange risk.

(ii)

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to equity securities price risk. The Group is not currently exposed to commodity price
risk.

(iii)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group's interest bearing asset, cash equivalents, expose it to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its financial position and cash flows.
The table below summarises the Group's exposure to interest rate risks:

30 June 2016
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

Floating
interest
rate
$

Fixed
interest
rate
$

Non‐
interest
bearing
$

Total
$

3,344
‐
3,344

‐
280,486
280,486

240,183
390,725
630,908

243,527
671,211
914,738

0.02%
0.47%

103,418,360
‐
103,418,360

‐
716,787
716,787

103,418,360
716,787
104,135,147

8.38%

‐
‐
‐
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

30 June 2015
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Financial liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables

(iv)

(b)

Floating
interest
rate
$

Fixed
interest
rate
$

Non‐
interest
bearing
$

Total
$

45,915
‐
45,915

‐
2,630,486
2,630,486

1,028,337
491,625
1,519,962

1,074,252
3,122,111
4,196,363

0.10%
3.10%

94,574,949
‐
94,574,949

‐
1,282,085
1,282,085

94,574,949
1,282,085
95,857,034

3.30%

‐
‐
‐

Weighted
average
%

Group sensitivity
The Group's main interest rate risk arises from cash equivalents and borrowings. The Group manages its cash
balances by investing in term deposits. The following table summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s profit and
equity to interest rate risk. The table examines the effect that changes in interest rates from year end rates, with
all other variables held constant, would have on post tax profit and equity.
Impact of increase
of 75 basis points
Profit
Equity
decrease
decrease
$
$

Carrying
amount
$

Impact of decrease
of 75 basis points
Profit
Equity
increase
increase
$
$

30 June 2016
Financial assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Net exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk

243,527
(103,418,360)

1,826
(775,638)

1,826
(775,638)

(1,826)
775,638

(1,826)
775,638

(103,174,833)

(773,812)

(773,812)

773,812

773,812

30 June 2015
Financial assets and liabilities
Cash and cash equivalents
Borrowings
Net exposure to cash flow
interest rate risk

1,074,252
(94,574,949)

8,057
(709,312)

8,057
(709,312)

(8,057)
709,312

(8,057)
709,312

(93,500,697)

(701,255)

(701,255)

701,255

701,255

Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. The Group’s main credit risk arises from borrowings from financial
institutions and from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial institutions. For banks and
financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum rating of 'A' are accepted.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets and
financial liabilities summarised above.
There are no bank borrowings. In the previous financial year, bank borrowings of $70 million were guaranteed by
KQ. The fair value of the loan approximated its current carrying value.
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2.

Financial risk management (continued)

(c)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses
or risking damage to the Group’s reputation. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.
The Group's $70m Loan Facility with CCBC was repaid on 30 May 2016 and replaced with a $73.8m Loan Facility
from the majority shareholder. The Group had $0.9m of undrawn facilities at the end of the reporting period.

(i)

Maturities of financial liabilities
The following table analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity Groupings based on the
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

30 June 2016
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

30 June 2015
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Carrying
amount
$

Less than 6
months
$

716,787
114,170,944
114,887,731

716,787
‐
716,787

1,282,085
97,053,924
98,336,009

1,282,085
‐
1,282,085

Between
6 and 12
months
$
‐
‐
‐

‐
70,000,000
70,000,000

Between
1 and 2
years
$
‐
114,170,944
114,170,944

‐
‐
‐

Between
2 and 5
years
$
‐
‐
‐

‐
27,053,924
27,053,924

During the current financial year the Group repaid the CCBC loan on 30 May 2016 with borrowings provided by
the majority shareholder.
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3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(i)

Income taxes
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations undertaken during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group has tax losses. The directors have not recognised a deferred tax asset in relation to the tax
losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and loss and is also
contingent on the ability of the Group being able to satisfy either the Continuity of Ownership Test or the Same
Business Test.

(ii)

Shareholder option valuation
The Group measures the value of shareholder options by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at
the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using a Black‐Scholes Option Pricing Model.

(iii)

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure
In accordance with the Group's policy for deferral of exploration and evaluation expenditure as set out in Note
1(o), exploration expenditure for each area of interest is carried forward as an asset, as exploration activities in
the area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or
otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in relation to the area
continuing.
The ultimate recoupment of exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on successful development and
commercial exploitation, or alternatively, sale of the respective area. It is posible that the eventual results of
exploration will not staisfy these criteria and the costs may have to be written off as a loss against profits.

(iv)

Coal reserve estimates
Coal reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the
Group's tenements. In order to calculate coal reserves, estimates and assumptions are required about a range of
geological, technical and economic factors. Estimating the quality and/or grade of the coal reserves requires the
size, shape and depth of coal bodies to be determined by analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This
process may require complex and difficult geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data. The
Group is required to determine and report coal reserves in Australia under the principles incorporated in the 2012
Edition of the Australasian Code, known as the JORC Code. The JORC Code requires the use of reasonable
investment assumptions to calculate reserves.
As the economic assumptions used to estimate coal reserves change from period to period, and as additional
geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of coal reserves may change from period
to period. Changes in reported coal reserves may affect the Group's financial results and financial position in a
number of ways, including the recoverable amount of deferred expenditure and capitalisation of costs.
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3.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)

(b)

Critical judgements in applying the entity's accounting policies
The Group accumulates certain costs associated with exploration activities on specific areas of interest where the
Group has rights of tenure. The Group’s policy is to expense any exploration and associated costs relating to non‐
specific projects and properties. Significant property acquisition, exploration, evaluation and development costs
relating to specific properties for which economically recoverable reserves are believed to exist are deferred until
the project to which they relate is sold, abandoned or placed into production.
Costs are also deferred where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not reached a
stage that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of economically recoverable reserves.

4.

Segment information

(a)

Description of segments
Business and geographical segments
The consolidated entity has only one material business segment consisting of the exploration and development of
hard‐coking, thermal and pulverised coal injection (PCI) coal projects. The Group operates in one geographic area
being Australia.

(b)

Segment information provided to the CEO
The consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of
cash flows as detailed above are the primary segment documents provided to the CEO.
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5.

Revenue

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

Interest received
Other revenue

77,884
‐
77,884

357,114
558
357,672

Expenses

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

Other revenue

6.
(a)

Employee benefit expenses
Salary and wages
Superannuation contributions
Employee related costs on exploration and evaluation exenditure
Employee administration expenses

(b)

1,437,609
136,262
(770,066)
220,866
1,024,671

2,318,512
212,294
(1,279,676)
221,862
1,472,992

3,881,072
5,289
3,886,361

3,121,781
6,930
3,128,711

Finance costs
Interest paid and capitalised
Other

7.

Income tax expense / (benefit)

(a)

Income tax expense / (benefit)

Consolidated
2016
$

Current tax
Deferred tax

(b)

‐
‐
‐

Tax at the rate of 30% (2015: 30%)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating
taxable income:
Thin capitalisation ‐ debt deduction denial
Entertainment

(18,585,446)

(33,395,744)

(5,575,634)

(10,018,723)

497,107
1,799
(5,076,728)

‐
‐
(10,018,723)

‐
5,076,728
‐

6,454
10,012,269
‐

Adjustment for current tax of prior periods
Tax losses not recognised in the current year
Aggregate income tax expense / (benefit)

Amounts recognised directly in equity
No tax amounts have been recognised directly in equity during the current or prior year.

(d)

‐
‐
‐

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax
payable
Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense

(c)

2015
$

Tax expense / (income) relating to items of other comprehensive income
There are no amounts of other comprehensive income against which to recognise tax.
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7.
(e)

Income tax expense / (benefit) (continued)
Tax losses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
Potential tax benefit at 30%

(f)

62,381,730
18,714,519

65,234,537
19,570,361

Consolidated
2016
$

Deferred tax balances
Deferred tax liability (DTL)
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Set‐off of DTL against DTA pursuant to set off provisions
Deferred tax asset (DTA)
Tax losses
Business related costs
Other
Set‐off DTL pursuant to set off provisions

Unrecognised DTA on temporary differences
Unused tax losses for which no DTA has been recognised
Total unrecognised deferred tax asset

2015
$

(8,831,950)
8,831,950
‐

(10,177,241)
10,177,241
‐

7,652,707
698,914
480,329
8,831,950
(8,831,950)
‐

9,488,648
661,180
27,413
10,177,241
(10,177,241)
‐

‐
18,714,519
18,714,519

322,684
19,570,361
19,893,045

No deferred asset has been recognised for tax losses generated from operations as the benefit of the tax losses
will only be obtained if:
(i) The Group derives future assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit
from the deductions for the losses to be realised; and
(ii) The Group complies with the conditions for deductibility of tax losses imposed by the relevant income tax
legislation; and
(iii) No changes in the relevant income tax legislation adversely affect the Group in realising the benefit from
the deduction for the tax losses.

8.

Current assets ‐ Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank and in hand

(a)

2015
$

243,527

1,074,252

243,527

1,074,252

Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year
Balance per consolidated statement of cash flows

(b)

Consolidated
2016
$

Interest rate risk exposure
The Group's exposure to interest rate risk is set out in note 2. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of cash and cash equivalents mentioned above.
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9.

Current assets ‐ Trade and other receivables

Prepayments and other debtors
Security for bank guarantee
Security for credit cards
Related party receivable
Less provision for related party receivable
GST recoverable

(a)

Consolidated
2016
$
271,955
230,486
50,000
1,143,058
(1,143,058)
6,325
558,766

2015
$
228,225
230,486
200,000
3,272,548
(1,072,548)
42,808
2,901,519

Related party receivable
In August 2015 the Company agreed to a payment schedule with a related party debtor, Australia
NewAgribusiness & Chemical Group Ltd (ANB) of $0.5 million per month until the debt was repaid. During the
year ANB repaid a total of $2.2 million to the company. On 20 April 2016 ANB appointed an Administrator, with
ANB still owing $0.8 million. As well as impairing the debt, the Company has also impaired the accumulated
interest.

(b)

Security for bank guarantee and credit cards
The Group holds cash by way of a term deposit that is not available for use as it forms security for bank
guarantees and credit cards provided from the Commonwealth Bank of Australia.

(c)

Impaired receivables
The Group has no trade receivables at 30 June 2016. (30 June 2015: Nil). The Group has impaired related party
receivables. (Please refer to note 9(a), above).

(d)

Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
The Group has no exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in relation to prepayments and other
receivables.

(e)

Fair value and credit risk
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount approximates their fair value.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security. Refer to note 2 for more information on the
risk management policy of the Group.

10. Non‐current assets ‐ Receivables

Financial assurance deposits

(a)

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

112,445

220,592

Impaired receivables
There were no impairments.

(b)

Foreign exchange and interest rate risk
The Group has no exposure to foreign currency risk and interest rate risk in relation to non‐current receivables.
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10. Non‐current assets ‐ Receivables (continued)
(c)

Fair value and credit risk
The fair values and carrying amounts of non‐current receivables are as follows:
2016
Carrying
amount
Fair value
$
$
Financial assurance deposits

112,445

105,089

2015
Carrying
amount
$

Fair value
$

220,592

206,161

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a current lending rate of 7.0% for deposits (2015: 7.0%).
The amounts held in escrow are not considered to be a financial instrument and is shown at its carrying value.

11. Non‐current assets ‐ Property, plant and equipment
All of the Groups assets are held as leasehold improvements and office equipment.

Leasehold improvements and office equipment
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

347,166
(138,106)
209,060

398,335
(127,963)
270,372

398,335
5,895
(57,064)
347,166

584,165
60,653
(246,483)
398,335

(127,963)
(64,887)
54,744
(138,106)

(98,327)
(97,290)
67,654
(127,963)

270,372
209,060

485,838
270,372

Cost
Opening balance as at 1 July
Additions
Disposals
Closing balance as at 30 June

Depreciation
Opening balance as at 1 July
Depreciation for the year
Disposals
Closing balance as at 30 June

Carrying amounts
Opening balance as at 1 July
Closing balance as at 30 June

(a)

Non‐current assets pledged as security
No property plant and equipment is pledged as security by U&D Coal Limited and its controlled entity at 30 June
2016. (2015: nil).
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12. Non‐current assets ‐ Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Consolidated
2016
$
Cost
Provision for impairment
Net book amount

2015
$

118,739,206
(29,332,626)
89,406,580

118,717,629
(22,332,626)
96,385,003

96,385,003
21,577
‐
(7,000,000)
89,406,580

113,314,532
7,062,263
(1,659,166)
(22,332,626)
96,385,003

96,385,003
89,406,580

113,314,532
96,385,003

Cost
Opening balance as at 1 July
Additions
Write off exploration and evaluation expenditure
Impairment on exploration and evaluation expenditure
Closing balance as at 30 June

Carrying amounts
Opening balance as at 1 July
Closing balance as at 30 June

(a)

Write off exploration and evaluation expenditure
The Company was required to relinquish 146 sub‐blocks of its tenements in the year ended 30 June 2015. The
Company decided to relinquish all 32 sub‐blocks of EPC 1515 Essex, all 23 sub‐blocks of EPC 1512 Expedition Peak
and 91 (31% of 292 ) sub‐blocks of EPC 2306 Coopers Creek. This resulted in a write down of $1,574,395.
Also in the year ended 30 June 2015, the Company decided to fully relinquish EPC 2854 Thirty Mile Creek (2 sub‐
blocks) and EPC 2025 Overlander (1 sub‐block), and so provided a further write down of $84,771.
In 2016, the Company relinquished 278 sub‐blocks from the Stockyard Creek, Rockwood, Springton and Orion
Downs project areas. The relinquishment has no financial impact as the sub‐blocks relinquished were previously
impaired.
During the year the Company incurred $5,573,719 of exploration expenditure which was not capitalised but
expensed to profit and loss.
Exploration and evaluation costs on tenements are recognised at cost, and carried forward where the right of
tenure of the area of interest is current and they are expected to be recouped through the sale or successful
development and exploration of the area of interest, or, where exploration and evaluation activities in the area of
interest have not yet reached a stage that permits reasonable assessment of the existence of economically
recoverable reserves. In deciding to relinquish EPC 1518 Sullivan Creek, the costs of this tenement can no longer
be carried forward and hence are written off. This reqlinquishment has no financial impact as the tenement was
previously impaired.

(b)

Impairment on exploration and evaluation expenditure
Assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may exceed the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value
less cost to sell or value in use. The Company reviewed impairment of its exploration and evaluation assets using
AASB 6 paragraph 20 as a non exhaustive list of indicators.
In 2015 the Company took an impairment of $22.3 million on its exploration and evaluation assets. This year the
Company tested its exploration and evaluation assets for impairment and decided to take a further impairment of
$7.0 million as the carrying amount may not be fully recovered through development of these assets.
Exploration and evaluation assets by their nature do not have a value in use and so an assessment of the assets
fair value less cost to sell is required to compare to the carrying amount in assessing any impairment loss.
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12. Non‐current assets ‐ Exploration and evaluation expenditure (continued)
(b)

Impairment on exploration and evaluation expenditure (continued)

(i)

Where there was no significant budgeted or planned expenditure
(a) For evaluation and exploration assets with no JORC ‐ in the absence of relative market data, the Company
assessed the recoverable value of these assets at zero. There was no impairment on this class of assets in the
current year. (2015: $6.8 million)
(b) For evaluation and exploration joint operation assets with no JORC ‐ in the absence of relative market data,
the Company assessed the recoverable value of these joint operations assets at zero. There was no impairment
on this class of assets in the current year. (2015: $0.9 million)
(c) For evaluation and exploration assets with JORC ‐ the Company compared the carrying amount of their
exploration asset to implied resource and reserve multiples from known asset sale transactions involving JORC
assets in the last 18 months. The Company concluded that there was no impairment on the Rockwood tenement
in the current year. (2015: $4.5 million)

(ii)

Where there was sufficient data to indicate that although a development on the tenement was likely to proceed,
the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation asset was unlikely to be fully recovered.
The Company has two projects in this area being the MDS project and the Broughton project.
(a) The MDS Project ‐ The Company reviewed an external indicative valuation for this project and concluded that
the recoverable amount was greater than the carrying amount and so there was no impairment on this asset.
(b) The Broughton Project ‐ The Company reviewed external indicative valuation data provided as part of its pre‐
feasibility study of the Broughton project and concluded that the carrying amount may be greater than the
recoverable amount and so an impairment of $7.0 million was provided for this asset. (2015: $10.0 million)

(c)

Allocation of exploration and evaluation expenditure
Included in exploration and evaluation expenditure are assets held under joint operations.
This joint operation asset was assessed for impairment in line with other exploration and evaluation assets. It was
fully impaired in prior year. Please refer to note 12(b)(i)(b) above.

13. Current liabilities ‐ Trade and other payables

Trade payables and accruals

Consolidated
2016
$
716,787

2015
$
1,282,085

Trade payables are non‐interest bearing and normally settled on 30 day terms.

(a)

Fair value
Due to the short‐term nature of these payables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value.

14. Current liabilities ‐ Borrowings

Consolidated
2016
$

Secured
Bank loans

‐

2015
$
70,000,000

The Group repaid its $70.0 million loan facility with CCB in May 2016, from borrowings it received from a new
$73.8 million loan from its majority shareholder. This new shareholder loan was due to expire on 1 July 2017 and
is shown as non‐current in note 16. In July 2017 KQ agreed to an amendment deed to extend the repayment date
of this loan to 1 August 2018.
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15. Current liabilities ‐ Provisions

Employee provisions

(a)

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

77,348

91,375

Amounts not expected to be settled within the next 12 months.
The current provision for employee benefits includes accrued annual leave. The entire amount of the provision is
presented as current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for any of these
obligations. However, based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount
of accrued leave or require payment within the next 12 months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not
to be expected to be taken or paid within the next 12 months.
Leave obligations expected to be settled after 12 months

16. Non‐current liabilities ‐ Borrowings
Secured
Loan from majority shareholder

15,470

18,275

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

103,418,360

24,574,949

In 2014 our majority shareholder KQ provided the Company with a $20,000,000 loan as per the Deed of
Settlement with KQ regarding the acquisition and cancellation of 100 million shares that KQ bought during the
IPO. The loan was due to expire in August 2017, with interest to accrue at the 3 month Bank Bill Swap Rate plus a
margin of 0.9%, and capitalised quarterly. In July 2017 KQ agreed to extend the repayment date of this loan to 1
August 2018.
In 2015 KQ provided a further long term funding facility of $8,000,000, expiring in February 2018 with interest at
8% capitalised quarterly. At 30 June 2015, $4,000,000 of this loan was drawn down with the remainder drawn
down in 2016.
In 2016 KQ provided a further long term funding facility of $73,800,000. The loan was due to expire on 1 July 2017
with interest at 10% capitalised quarterly. $72,900,000 was drawn down at the balance date with the remainder
drawn down in 2017. In July 2017 KQ agreed to extend the repayment date of this loan to 1 August 2018.
Risk exposure
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on its borrowings. Refer to note 2 for further information.
Fair value
The fair value of the bank loan approximates its carrying amount.
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17. Contributed equity

Consolidated
2016
$

Contributed equity

(a)

45,941,395
45,941,395

2015
$
45,941,395
45,941,395

Movements in contributed equity
Date
01 Jul 14
19 Aug 14

Number of
shares

Details

21 Jan 15
30 Jun 15

Opening balance
Acquisition and cancellation of shares issued
to KQ under the IPO through the settlement deed
Selective off market buyback
Closing balance

(100,000,000)
(8,316,092)
1,000,241,708

30 Jun 16

Closing balance

1,000,241,708

Issue
Price ($)

1,108,557,800

$
100,099,441

0.5000
0.5000

(50,000,000)
(4,158,046)
45,941,395
45,941,395

At 1 July 2014, the Group had contributed equity of $100,099,441 comprising 1,108,557,800 shares.
Acquisition and cancellation of shares issued to KQ ‐ On 15 August 2014, the Company announced that it had
reached an agreement and entered into a deed of settlement with KQ settling the section 737 proceedings. Part
of the deed of settlement was the acquisition and cancellation of 100,000,000 shares issued to KQ under the IPO,
which the Company completed on 19 August 2014.
Selective off market buyback ‐ As part of the deed of settlement mentioned above, and subject to shareholder
approval which was obtained at the Company's Annual General Meeting on 12 November 2014, the Company
made a selective buyback offer to shareholders who were issued shares under the IPO. The selective buyback was
completed on 19 January 2015 with the Company acquiring 8,316,092 shares at $0.50 per share.

(b)

Impact of the selective buyback and ASX Delisting
As a result of the selective buyback the Company had only 31 shareholders and did not meet the spread
requirements for an ASX Listing. Please refer to the Shareholder Information towards the back of this report. The
Company was delisted from the ASX on 19 June 2015.

(c)

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held.
On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one
vote, and upon a poll each share is entitled to one vote.
Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.

(d)

Capital risk management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the ability of the Group to continue as a going
concern, so that it can provide returns for stakeholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash equivalents, borrowings and equity attributable to
the shareholders of the parent, comprising contributed capital, reserves and accumulated losses.
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18. Reserves and accumulated losses
(a)

Reserves

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

Equity option reserve

832,674

832,674

Movements:
Balance 1 July
Option expense
Balance 30 June

832,674
‐
832,674

832,674
‐
832,674

The equity option reserve is used to record the value of existing benefits provided to IPO investors as an incentive
for acquiring shares under the IPO. As part of the IPO investors were issued with three free option parcels on
8,557,800 shares. The options are not listed for official quotation on ASX and therefore will not be publicly traded.
The option tranches are as follows:
Tranche 1
Up to 19 February 2015, IPO investors had a call option to exercise at $0.50 per share up to 30% (or 1,200
shares) for each parcel of 4,000 shares. No options were exercised at this date and all options from this
tranche expired at that date.
Tranche 2
Up to 19 February 2016, IPO investors had a call option to exercise at $0.70 per share up to 30% (or 1,200
shares) for each parcel of 4,000 shares. No options were exercised at this date and all options from this
tranche expired at that date.
Tranche 3
Up to 19 February 2017, IPO investors will have a call option to exercise at $0.90 per share up to 40% (or
1,600 shares) for each parcel of 4,000 shares. Any unexercised options from this tranche will expire at that
date.
The assessed fair value at grant date of the options are independently determined using a Black‐Scholes Option
Pricing Model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share
price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk‐
free interest rate for the term of the option. The key assumptions used in the Black‐Scholes Option Pricing Model
was volatility of 70% and the share price equal to $0.50.
Please note that the Company was delisted from the ASX on 17 June 2015, making the trading of shares more
difficult, impacting upon the likely take up of the two remaining option tranches.

(b)

Consolidated
2016
$

Accumulated losses

2015
$

Accumulated losses

(60,456,186)

(41,870,740)

Movements:
Balance 1 July
Loss for the year
Balance 30 June

(41,870,740)
(18,585,446)
(60,456,186)

(8,474,996)
(33,395,744)
(41,870,740)
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19. Auditors' remuneration
During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity,
its related practices and non‐related audit firms:

(a)

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

93,087
93,087

144,898
144,898

34,080
34,080

81,284
81,284

Total audit and accountancy costs

127,167

226,182

Total remuneration of PricewaterhouseCoopers

127,167

226,182

PricewaterhouseCoopers Australia
Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial reports
Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services
Taxation services
Tax compliance services

It is the Group's policy to seek competitive tenders for all major consulting projects. The Group policy allows
PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC) to be employed on assignments additional to their audit duties where PwC
expertise and experience with the Group are important and where the assignment remains compliant with the
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001.
These assignments are principally tax advice or where PwC are awarded assignments on a competitive basis.

20. Contingencies
(a)

Contingent liabilities
The Group had no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2016, except for bank guarantees. For information about bank
guarantees within the Group, please refer to note 9(b).

(b)

Contingent assets
There are no contingent assets where the probability of future receipts is not considered remote.

21. Commitments
(a)

Future exploration
The Group has certain obligations to expend minimum amounts on exploration in tenement areas. These
obligations may be varied from time to time and are expected to be fulfilled in the normal course of operations of
the Group. To keep tenements in good standing, work programs should meet certain minimum expenditure
requirements. If the minimum expenditure requirements are not met, the Group has the option to negotiate new
terms or relinquish parts of, or entire tenements. The Group also has the ability to meet expenditure
requirements by joint venture or farmin agreements.

Commitments for future exploration are payable as follows:
Within one year
Later than one year but not later than five years
Later than five years

Consolidated
2016
$
6,587,803
10,977,540
369,086
17,934,429
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2015
$
6,746,941
17,020,590
913,838
24,681,369
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21. Commitments (continued)
(b)

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date that was not recognised as a liability was nil. (2015:
$879,335).

(c)

Lease expenditure commitments
In 2015, the Group had non‐cancellable operating leases for office facilities with a remaining lease terms of less
than one year. In 2016 the Group extended the lease by one year. The consolidated entity does not have an
option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to
non‐cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:
Within one year

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

143,508
143,508

165,139
165,139

22. Events occurring after the reporting period
Shareholder loans
Subsequent to the year end, the Company has completely drawn down the remaining $0.9 million from the $73.8
million KQ loan facility. In addition KQ has provided a further $1.7 million to the date of this report to finance the
Company's operations. On 26 July 2017 KQ agreed to an amendment deed extending the $73.8 million and $20.0
million loans to 1 August 2018.
Tenement renewal and relinquishment
The Company was granted the renewal of EPC 2339 Stockyard Creek in August 2016, and fully relinquished the
remaining 15 sub‐blocks of EPC 1518 Sullivan Creek in September 2016.
Proceeding
On 27 June 2016, Flash Lighting Company (FLC) a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands commenced
proceedings in the Supreme Court of Victoria against the Group’s majority shareholder, Australian Kunqian
International Energy Co., Pty Ltd (KQ), claiming $29.2 million indebtedness in relation to a share sale and purchase
agreement, entered into during the year ended 30 June 2012. On 18 October 2016 the plaintiff commenced
proceedings in the Supreme Court of Victoria against U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd (UDM), a wholly
owned subsidiary of U&D Coal Ltd (UND), as a second defendant in a case against a former UDM and UND
Director, Mr Yinan Zhang. The proceedings allege that the director Mr Zhang knowingly assisted, or was involved
in, a breach of fiduciary duty of UDM in relation to the $29.2 million indebtedness.
The first and second proceedings are inter‐related, and the Company and the majority shareholder are each
defending the allegations. The Company is expecting that this matter will be heard by the courts in the first half of
the 2017 year. Whilst the company is optimistic about the outcome of the case, it is unable to assess the likely
probability of success with regards to the court hearing at this point in time.
Change in Registered Office and Principal Place of business
On 19 January 2017, the company completed the relocation from its leased offices at Eight Mile Plains to a leased
office in Edward Street, Brisbane. The new address details are in the directory at the back of this report.
MDS decision to mine
On 15 June 2017, the Company agreed with Sojitz Coal Mining that it had made a decision to mine the MDS
project. The agreement puts in place timeline and commitment for expenditure that should see mining
commence within seven months of the signing date. The ultimate commitment value beyond an initial $800,000
payment for water compensation is not known.
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23. Related party transactions
(a)

Parent entity
The parent entity within the Group is U&D Coal Limited.

Name
Australia Kunqian International
Energy Co., Ltd (KQ)
Yima Coal Industry Group., Co Ltd
(Yima)
*(Yima holds 100% of KQ)

(b)

Type
Immediate and ultimate
Australian parent entity
Ultimate parent entity and
controlling party

Place of
Incorporation
Australia
Australia

Ownership Interest
2016
2015
51.0%
51.0%
51.0%

51.0%

Subsidiaries
Interest in subsidiaries are set out in note 24.

(c)

Associate
There is no interest in associates.

(d)

Joint arrangements
Interest in joint arrangements are set out in note 25.

(e)

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 26 and in the Remuneration Report in the
Directors' Report.

(f)

Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties and
are performed on normal terms and conditions:

(g)

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

Sale of goods and services
Consultancy services

‐

75,467

Purchases of goods and services
Payments of office rental

‐

57,807

Loans with related parties
Consolidated
2016
2015
$
$
22,374,949
(5,000,000)
76,900,000
24,000,000
2,200,000
2,000,000
‐
800,000
1,943,411
574,949
(70,510)
(272,548)
70,510
272,548
103,418,360
22,374,949

Loans from / (to) other related parties
Beginning of the year
Loans received
Loan repayments received
Impairment on loan made
Interest charged
Interest receivable
Impairment on interest receivable
End of year

63

Notes to the financial statements (continued)

23. Related party transactions (continued)
(h)

Terms and conditions
Consultancy services ‐ In the prior year consultancy services were provided by U&D Mining Industry (Australia)
Pty Ltd to Australian New Agribusiness and Chemical Group (ASX:ANB) on an arms length basis. Mr Yinan Zhang
was the Vice Chairman of U&D Coal Ltd (U&D) until his resignation from the Company on 31 July 2014, and CEO of
ANB.
Payments of office rental ‐ in the prior year U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd paid office accommodation
costs to Bligh Energy Services Pty Limited (BES), for a serviced office in Bligh Street, Sydney. BES was an associate
of the Group. The office arrangement expired in May 2015 and the investment in the associate was written off at
that time.
Loans to related parties ‐ The Company was owed $5,000,000 by ANB, a loan that dates back to when ANB was a
shareholder in the Company and the then vice chairman of the Company Mr Yinan Zhang was also the CEO of
ANB. On 20 April 2016, ANB appointed an Administrator. The Company has impaired the remaining $800,000
outstanding debt and associated interest. (Please refer to note 9(a)).
Loans from related parties ‐ Our majority shareholder KQ provided the Company with a $20,000,000 loan as per
the Deed of Settlement with KQ regarding the acquisition and cancellation of 100 million shares that KQ bought
during the IPO. The loan was due to expire in August 2017 with interest to accrue at the 3 month Bank Bill Swap
Rate plus a margin of 0.9%, and capitalised quarterly. In July 2017 KQ agreed to extend the repayment date of this
loan to 1 August 2018. (Please refer to note 16).
In 2015, KQ provided a further long term funding facility of $8,000,000, of which $4,000,000 was drawn down as
at the 30 June 2015. The remaining $4,000,000 was drawn down in 2016. The loan term is 3 years expiring in
February 2018, with interest of 8% capitalised quarterly. (Please refer to note 16).
In 2016, KQ provided a further long term funding facility of $73,800,000. The loan was due to expire on 1 July
2017 with interest at 10% capitalised quarterly. $72,900,000 was drawn down at the balance date with the
remainder drawn down in 2017. In July 2017 KQ agreed to extend the repayment date of this loan to 1 August
2018. (Please refer to Note 16).

24. Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1(c)(i):
Name of entity

County of
incorporation

Class of
shares

Australia

Ordinary

100%

100%

Australia
Australia

Ordinary
Ordinary

100%
100%

100%
100%

Australia
Australia
Australia
Australia

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%

Subsidiaries of U&D Coal Ltd
U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd
Subsidiaries of U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd
Resource Portfolio Partners Pty Ltd
Endocoal Ltd
Subsidiaries of Endocoal Ltd
Endocoal Finance Services Pty Ltd
Orion Downs Pty Limited
Pretoria Hill Exploration Management Pty Ltd
Endocoal (Pretoria Hill) Pty Ltd
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25. Joint arrangements
(a)

Movements in carrying amounts
Carrying amount at the beginning of the financial year
Additions
Impairment on exploration and evaluation expenditure
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year

(b)

Consolidated
2016
$
‐
‐
‐
‐

2015
$
949,274
12,166
(961,440)
‐

Impairment
EPC 2135 Pretoria Hill is an exploration and evaluation asset held under a joint arrangement. The Company
reviewed impairment of its exploration and evaluation assets using AASB 6 paragraph 20 as a non exhaustive list
of indicators. EPC 2135 Pretoria Hill has no measured JORC. The Company determined, in the absence of relative
market data, that evaluation and exploration assets with no JORC, are assessed to have a recoverable value of
zero. There was no impairment on this joint arrangement. (2015: $961,440) (Please refer to note 12(b)(i)(b)).

(c)

Summarised financial information of joint operation
The Company's share of the results of its principal associate and its aggregated assets and liabilities are as follows:
Pretoria Hill (EPC2135)
(From 7 May 2013)

2016
%
50.00%
$
‐

Ownership Interest
Assets

2015
%
50.00%
$
‐

Pretoria Hill is an EPC held under a joint arrangement. The controlled entities have a 50% share in the EPC granted
in August 2012. The joint arrangement has no revenues, losses or liabilities at the reporting date.
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26. Key management personnel disclosures
(a)

Directors
The following persons were directors of U&D Coal limited during the financial year:

(i)

Chairperson ‐ non‐executive
Mr Dongsheng Wu (from 11 November 2013 until 5 February 2016)
Mr Qian Yu (from 5 February 2016)

(ii)

Non‐executive directors
Mr Gavin Houghton (from 11 November 2013)
Mr Shining Hou (from 1 August 2014)
Mr Shulong Ma (from 1 August 2014)
Mr Geoff Dickie (from 11 November 2013 until 21 July 2014)

(iii)

Executive directors
Mr Qian Yu (from 31 July 2014)
Mr Yinan Zhang (from 19 September 2013 until 31 July 2014)
Mr Hao Liu (from 19 September 2013 until 31 July 2014)
Mr Wei Liu (from 19 September 2013 until 31 July 2014)
U&D Coal was incorporated on 19 September 2013 when three of the executive directors were appointed. Those
three executive directors resigned on 31 July 2014. Please refer to the Directors Report for further information.

(b)

Other key management personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the Group, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:
Name

Position

Employer

Peter Edwards

Chief Financial Officer /
Company Secretary
General Manager
Resource Development
General Manager
Mine Development

U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd

Darren Walker
Matthew Page

(c)

U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd
U&D Mining Industry (Australia) Pty Ltd

Key management personnel compensation

Consolidated
2016
$
728,943
66,054
794,997

Short term employee benefits
Post‐employment benefits

2015
$
894,242
76,468
970,710

(d)

Equity instrument disclosure relating to key management personnel

(i)

Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of share options
Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with
terms and conditions of the options, can be found in the Remuneration Report section of the Directors' Report.
No share options have been provided to directors or other key management personnel of the Group.

(e)

Loans to key management personnel
Details of loans made to directors of U&D Coal Limited and other key management personnel of the Group
including their personally related parties, would be disclosed under current and non‐current receivables. There
were no loans to individuals at any time during the years ended 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015.

(f)

Other transactions with key management personnel
Other transactions with key management personnel are disclosed under the related party transactions note.
(Note 23).
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27. Share based payments
There were no share based payments during the year. Details of share based payments are noted in note 1(t)(vi).

28. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to
net cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the year

Consolidated
2016
2015
$
$
(18,585,446)
(33,395,744)

Depreciation
Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure
Write off exploration and evaluation expenditure
Impairment of loan to related party and interest receivable
Write off intangible assets and non‐current receivables
Write off investment in associate
Loss on sale of assets

64,887
7,000,000
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

97,290
22,332,626
1,659,166
1,072,548
936,933
46,124
50,829

Changes in operating assets and liabilities
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals
Increase/(decrease) in provisions

2,414,416
(528,815)
(14,027)

1,664,411
790,574
(57,258)

(9,648,985)

(4,802,501)

2016
$

2015
$

29. Parent entity disclosures
(a)

(b)

Financial position
Assets
Current assets
Non‐current assets
Total assets

74,485,331
70,000,000
144,485,331

67,709,946
‐
67,709,946

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Non‐current liabilities
Total liabilities

717,053
102,701,307
103,418,360

93,161
24,574,949
24,668,110

Net assets

41,066,971

43,041,836

Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Accumulated losses

45,941,295
832,674
(5,706,998)

45,941,295
832,674
(3,732,133)

Total equity

41,066,971

43,041,836

(1,974,865)
‐
(1,974,865)

(3,109,675)
‐
(3,109,675)

Financial performance
Loss for the year
Other comprehensive income

(c)

Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
No guarantees were provided for the year ended 30 June 2016 (Nil 2015).
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29. Parent entity disclosures (continued)
(d)

Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
The parent entity had no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2016 (Nil 2015), except for bank guarantees. For
information about bank guarantees, please refer to note 9(b).

(e)

Capital commitments
There was no capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date that was not recognised as a liability.

(f)

Lease expenditure commitments
The parent has no non‐cancellable operating leases.

30. Earnings / (loss) per share
(a)

Consolidated
2016
Cents

Basic earnings / (loss) per share
Basic loss per ordinary share attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the Company

(b)

(d)

(1.9)

(3.3)

(1.9)

(3.3)

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share
Diluted loss per ordinary share attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the Company

(c)

2015
Cents

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings / (loss) per
share

Consolidated
2016
$

2015
$

Basic earnings / (loss) per share
Loss attributed to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in
calculating basic earnings per share

(18,585,446)

(33,395,744)

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share
Loss attributed to the ordinary equity holders of the Company used in
calculating basic earnings per share

(18,585,446)

(33,395,744)

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Number
of shares

Number
of shares

Basic earnings / (loss) per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in
calculating earnings per share

1,000,241,708

1,018,611,020

Diluted earnings / (loss) per share
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in
calculating earnings per share

1,000,241,708

1,018,611,020

(e)

Information concerning the classification of securities

(i)

Options
Options granted to shareholders are considered to be potential ordinary shares and have been included in the
determination of diluted earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive. Shares in the Company were
not traded on the ASX from 11 March 2014 until the Company was de‐listed on 17 June 2015. Prior to the halt in
trading the average share price for the previous year was $0.51 which was above the strike price of the first
option tranche. This option was included in the previous years dilution calculation, but has subsequently lapsed
without any take up. The Company was delisted in June 2015 making the trading of shares more difficult. The
second option lapsed in February 2016 without take up. The Company believes that the remaining option tranch
is well above the market share price and therefore is not considered to be dilutive and is therefore not included in
the determination of dilutive earnings per share. Details relating to the options are set out in Note 18(a).
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31. Additional information
At the date of this report U&D Coal Limited is an unlisted Public Company limited by shares and incorporated in
Australia. The Company delisted from the Australian Securities Exchange on 17 June 2015. Shares are not publicly
traded.
The financial report of U&D Coal Limited for the year ended 30 June 2016 was authorised for issue in accordance
with a resolution of the directors on 2 August 2017.
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are described in Note 4.
Principal place of business
Suite A, Level 4, Rowes Building, 235 Edward Street
Brisbane, QLD 4000
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Directors declaration
In accordance with a resolution of the directors of U&D Coal Limited, we state that:
1

In the opinion of the directors:
(a)

the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:
(i)
(ii)

2

giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2016
and its performance for the year ended on that date; and
complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001 and other
mandatory reporting requirements;

(b)

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when
they become due and payable;

(c)

the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.

This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made by the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer to the directors in accordance with Section 295A of the Corporations Act
2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2016.
This declaration has been made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

On behalf of the board

Qian Yu
Acting Chairperson
Brisbane, 2 August 2017
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Shareholders information
Shareholding and voting rights
(a) Statement of directors' (and their related entities) interests in share capital of the parent
entity as at 2 August 2017
Ordinary
shares
Mr Qian Yu ‐ Executive director
Mr Wenliang Wang ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Shining Hou ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Shulong Ma ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Gavin Houghton ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Qian Yu ‐ Executive director

‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

(b) Distribution of shareholdings
Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:
Number of
holders

Number of
shares held

1 ‐ 1,000
1,001 ‐ 5,000
5,001 ‐ 10,000
10,001 ‐ 100,000
100,001 and over
Total

2
13
5
6
5
31

1,955
43,753
46,000
150,000
1,000,000,000
1,000,241,708

0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.01%
99.98%
100.00%

Twenty largest shareholders

20

100,241,708

10.02%

Size of holding

% of issued
capital

(c) Ordinary shares
On a show of hands, each holder present in person or by proxy or attorney shall have one vote or on a
poll, one vote for each share held.
(d) Share options exercisable at year end:
There are no employee share options exercisable at the year end.
As part of the IPO investors were issued with three free option parcels on 8,557,800 shares. The options
are not listed for official quotation on ASX and therefore will not be publicly traded. The option
tranches are as follows:
Tranche 1 ‐ Option expired on 19 February 2015. IPO investors had a call option to exercise at 50
cents up to 30% (or 1,200 shares) for each parcel of 4,000 shares. No options were exercised and
all Tranche 1 options expired on 19 February 2015.
Tranche 2 ‐ Option expired on 19 February 2016. IPO investors had a call option to exercise at 70
cents up to 30% (or 1,200 shares) for each parcel of 4,000 shares. No options were exercised and
all Tranche 2 options expired on 19 February 2016.
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(d) Share options exercisable at year end: (continued)
Up to 19 February 2017, IPO investors will have a call option to exercise at 90 cents up to 40% (or
1,600 shares) for each parcel of 4,000 shares. Any unexercised options from this tranche will
expire at that date.
(e) Substantial shareholders
Number of
shares held

Name of substantial holder

510,000,000
240,000,000
230,000,000

1 Australia Kunqian International Energy Co. Pty Ltd
2 Worldwide Energy (Hong Kong) Limited
3 Golden Globe Energy Limited

% of issued
capital
50.99%
23.99%
22.99%

(f) Unmarketable parcels
There were no shareholders with unmarketable parcels of shares on 1 April 2016.
(g) Twenty five largest shareholders at 2 August 2017
Number of
shares held

Name of substantial holder
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

510,000,000
240,000,000
230,000,000
15,000,000
5,000,000
40,000
32,000
30,000
20,000
16,000
12,000
10,000
10,000
10,000
8,000
8,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
4,000
9,708
1,000,241,708

Australia Kunqian International Energy Co. Pty Ltd
Worldwide Energy (Hong Kong) Limited
Golden Globe Energy
Mr Zhanjun Fei
Tongfa Equipments
Ms Linda Zheng
Multi Credit Mortgage Pty Ltd
Miss Meiyi Pan & Mr Jainmin Sun
Mr Fang‐Jack Foo
Luo & Ferguson Pty Ltd
Mr Wei‐Ching Franky Tu
Mr Wei Qi Zhong
Mr Yi Zhu
Jin Hao Yang
Mr Gang Wei
Mr Xinian Liu
Mr Xinliang Fu
Mr Pengqian Hu
Ms Kangye Felcia Sun
Mr Zu Quan Xie
Mr Zhenghao Xu
Mr Dong Cao
Mr Baolan Liang
Mr Huilan Zhang
Mr Herald Roque Alvares
6 Remaining shareholders
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% of issued
capital
50.99%
23.99%
22.99%
1.50%
0.50%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
100.00%

Directory
Directors:

Registered Office

Mr Qian Yu ‐ Executive Chairman
Mr Wenliang Wang ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Shining Hou ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Shulong Ma ‐ Non‐executive director
Mr Gavin Houghton ‐ Non‐executive director

Suite A, Level 4, Rowes Building, 235 Edward St,
Brisbane, QLD 4000
Australia

Principal place of business
and postal address
Suite A, Level 4, Rowes Building, 235 Edward St,
Brisbane, QLD 4000
Australia
Telephone : +61 7 3188 9101
Facsimile : +61 7 3188 9102
Email : Brisbaneadmin@udmining.com.au
Web : www.udmining.com.au

Management group

Share registry

Chief Executive Officer
Mr Qian Yu

Link Market Services
Level 15, 324 Queen Street,
Brisbane, QLD 4000
Australia
Postal address:
Locked Bag A14, South Sydney, NSW 1235

Chief Financial Officer
Company secretary
Mr Peter Edwards
General Manager Resource Development
Mr Darren Walker

Telephone : (within Australia) 1300 554 474
Telephone : (outside Australia) +61 1300 554 474
Facsmile : (within Australia) 02 9287 0303
Facsmile : (outside Australia) +61 2 9287 0303
Email : registrars@linkmarketservices.com.au
Web : www.linkmarketservices.com.au

General Manager Mine Development
Mr Matt Page

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Chartered Accountants

Bankers
Commonwealth Bank of Australia Ltd

Solicitors
Clayton Utz
Corrs Chambers Westgarth
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